

University of South Florida Scholar Commons

Graduate Theses and Dissertations

Graduate School

June 2017

Force Compensation and Recreation Accuracy in Humans

Benjamin Rigsby University of South Florida, bsrigsby@mail.usf.edu

Follow this and additional works at: http://scholarcommons.usf.edu/etd Part of the <u>Biomedical Engineering and Bioengineering Commons</u>, <u>Mechanical Engineering</u> <u>Commons</u>, and the <u>Neurosciences Commons</u>

Scholar Commons Citation

Rigsby, Benjamin, "Force Compensation and Recreation Accuracy in Humans" (2017). *Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. http://scholarcommons.usf.edu/etd/6938

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at Scholar Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholar Commons. For more information, please contact scholarcommons@usf.edu.



Force Compensation and Recreation Accuracy in Humans

by

Benjamin Rigsby

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Mechanical Engineering Department of Mechanical Engineering College of Engineering University of South Florida

Major Professor: Kyle B. Reed, Ph.D. Redwan M. Alqasemi, Ph.D. Seok Hun Kim, Ph.D.

> Date of Approval: June 20, 2017

Keywords: Directional Force Compensation, Bimanual Action, Motor Control, Motor Learning, Human-Computer Interaction

Copyright © 2017, Benjamin Rigsby



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thank you to my advisor, Dr. Kyle B. Reed, for advising, instructing, and humoring me during my time in REEDLab. Since I started working here, I have grown immensely as an engineer, researcher, communicator, and leader. Without the freedom and assistance he has given me, the breadth of my knowledge and skills would certainly have suffered.

I would likely have never attended graduate school without the assistance of Dr. Autar Kaw who gave me a job as an undergraduate teaching assistant. This made it financially possible to finish my bachelor's degree and continue to graduate school. His ethic and advice throughout have been invaluable, and his instruction and example as an educator have inspired me.

Thank you to my committee, Dr. Redwan Alqasemi and Dr. Seok Hun Kim, for their time and contributions to this thesis. A special thanks to Dr. Kim for his advice, assistance, and admonitions while conducting my first ever experiment.

To Victoria, thank you for the encouragement and assistance both in word and deed. For all the home cooked meals, for being there when I need you, and for taking everything in stride.

To Dennis and Brigitte Lamberti, thank you for the hospitality, advice, and support. True friends are hard find.

Thank you to my parents and grandparents for their advice and support especially during my undergraduate years.

To everyone who has extended a hand to me, you have my sincere gratitude.

Funding for this research was provided by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. 1319802.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	iii
LIST OF FIGURES	iv
ABSTRACT	vi
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2: BACKGROUND	3
2.1 Hemispheric Asymmetries in Upper Limb Control	3
2.1.1 Visual and Proprioceptive Asymmetries	4
2.2 Directional Arm Control	5
2.3 Reaction Time	7
2.4 Speed-Accuracy Tradeoff	8
2.5 Force Perception	10
2.6 Force Perception Training and Experience	12
2.7 Force Production and Finger Configurations	13
CHAPTER 3: BIMANUAL FORCE RECREATION	15
3.1 Experiment	15
3.1.1 Experimental Setup	15
3.1.2 Procedure	16
3.1.3 Participants	17
3.2 Results and Discussion	18
3.2.1 Effect of Weight on Bimanual Force Recreation	18
3.2.2 Effect of Number of Fingers on Bimanual Force Recreation	20
3.2.3 Effect of Experience on Bimanual Force Recreation	20
3.2.4 Confidence	22
CHAPTER 4: FORCE COMPENSATION IN A TRACKING TASK	23
4.1 Experiment	23
4.1.1 Experimental Setup	23
4.1.2 Procedure	23
4.1.3 Participants	26
4.2 Results and Discussion	27
4.2.1 Hemispheric Asymmetries	28
4.2.2 Force Direction	29
4.2.2.1 Error Estimates	33
4.2.3 Acceleration	37



www.manaraa.com

4.2.4 Speed-Accuracy Effects	39
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS 5.1 Main Contributions 5.2 Future Work	42 43 43
LIST OF REFERENCES	45
APPENDIX A: ADDITIONAL FIGURES A.1 Position Paths	53 53
APPENDIX B: COPYRIGHT PERMISSIONS	57



LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1	Statistical results obtained from a multivariate, 3-way ANOVA for hand, speed, and force condition factors	28
Table 4.2	Average and standard deviation for groups of force perturbations reported for each component of error	28
Table 4.3	Mean errors from each speed corresponding to each error type	40



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1	The setup for the bimanual force recreation experiment is shown with the input hand shown on the right	16
Figure 3.2	A schematic of the recreation device showing the force sensors, weights, and experimental setup	17
Figure 3.3	The post-hoc test with Bonferroni corrections is shown for accuracy vs. weight	19
Figure 3.4	The average and standard errors are shown for relative error vs. subject	21
Figure 4.1	An overhead view of the setup showing a subject interacting with the visual-haptic environment	24
Figure 4.2	Two example screens of the experiment are shown	25
Figure 4.3	A depiction of how X and Y errors were defined	25
Figure 4.4	All force perturbation conditions are shown in a 2D plane acting on the Omni endpoint	25
Figure 4.5	The average and standard errors are shown for the mean X axis error versus force condition	29
Figure 4.6	The average and standard errors are shown for the mean Y axis error versus force condition	30
Figure 4.7	The average and standard errors are shown for the mean RMS error versus force condition	31
Figure 4.8	Average X & Y error of each force condition along the trial path with standard deviation at each point depicted with shading	32
Figure 4.9	A representation of the force vectors and the vector addition required for simulation	34
Figure 4.10	Comparing diagonal data with an estimate of the data generated from the two components' data	35



Figure 4.11	Comparing cardinal direction data with an estimate of the data generated from the two components' data	36
Figure 4.12	Examples of acceleration response when subjects entered force field during two perturbations	38
Figure 4.13	The post-hoc test with Bonferroni corrections is shown for the mean peak acceleration versus force condition	39
Figure 4.14	The average and standard errors are shown here for the mean RMS error vs. speed condition	41
Figure 4.15	Linear regression equation for mean RMS error versus speed plotted with original data points	41
Figure A.1	The average Y vs. X position across all subjects for the duration of the trial	53
Figure A.2	Raw 2D paths of the four cardinal direction force perturbations are given across all the subjects	54
Figure A.3	Raw 2D paths of the four diagonal direction force perturbations are given across all the subjects	55
Figure A.4	The 2D path for the duration of the trial for all the subjects' baseline data (no force perturbation)	56



ABSTRACT

As industry becomes increasingly reliant on robotic assistance and human-computer interfaces, the demand to understand the human sensorimotor system's characteristics intensifies. Although this field of research has been going on for over a century, new technologies push the limits of the human motor system and our knowledge of it. With new technologies come new abilities, and, in the area of medical care and rehabilitation, the need to expand our knowledge of the sensorimotor system comes from both the patient and physician.

Two studies relating to human force interaction are presented in this thesis. The first study focuses on humans' ability to bimanually recreate forces. That is, to feel a force on one hand and reproduce that force on the other. This skill is applicable in everyday lives from tasks such as a gardener using shears to trim a bush to a surgeon tying a delicate suture. These two tasks illustrate the different factors in this study on force recreation, which are the effects of: (1) occupational force dexterity, (2) force magnitude, and (3) the number of fingers used in the recreation task. Results showed statistical significance for force magnitude and number of fingers as factors in bimanual force recreation but not for occupation.

The second study examines how humans compensate for force perturbations in different directions with respect to the line of action and the effects of restricting movement time. A dynamic tracking task was presented to participants in which they were told to follow a moving target as accurately as possible. During a fixed interval along the target's path, a force field would perturb them in an undisclosed direction. Nine force conditions and three speeds were tested on both the left and right hands. Statistical analyses and comparison of error data indicate an effect of force direction on compensation accuracy. Speed is demonstrated as a statistically significant factor on accuracy, and a linear relationship between speed and error is posited.



CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

One look at the cortical sensory and motor homunculi will demonstrate the evolutionary importance of humans' motor capabilities and our ability to communicate them [1]. Our hands and mouth dominate the representation in the motor and sensory cortices. The ability to design and create tools, devise complex motor tasks to create and use them, and even teach all of these steps is unrivaled. Woodworth [2] was one of the first to study the accuracy of human movement when he noticed ostensibly unskilled manual labor involved quite a lot of skill. He observed road workers hammering spikes into the ground with sledgehammers and counted the number of successful hits to quantify their accuracy. His argument was that, although hitting a spike does not require a lot of traditional knowledge, hitting a spike 999 times out of a thousand demands a high level of manual skill: a different kind of knowledge. Robotics researchers are intimately aware of this proposition as many everyday tasks require feedback from numerous inputs in our sensorimotor system and complicated, adaptive motor programs, which must be replaced by manufactured sensors and manmade algorithms and controls. Members of the medical committee are not naive to this complexity either. Working with patients who have lost motor function will quickly demonstrate that these skills cannot be taken for granted and occupy a different but vitally important area of knowledge and ability [3].

Despite the amazing flexibility of the human sensorimotor system, it is not free from inefficiency and bias. These deficits range from neurological asymmetries to physical sensory limitations to incomplete environmental practice. One such inefficiency, and a topic of this thesis, is force perception. Several studies have shown that self-generated forces are attenuated, which leaves a gap between what we *think* we are doing and what we are *actually* doing [4]. The medical community provides one of the most compelling motivations for working toward a solution to this



problem. Physical therapists, for example, rehabilitate many patients through direct manipulation. This hands-on interaction involves the communication of muscle tone, force, and motion to the therapist and the selective delivery of force and motion by the therapist [5]. Misapplication of the desired forces may slow or reduce patient outcomes. These issues can be compounded in more complicated motor tasks. Similarly, force application errors during surgery account for a significant percentage of negative consequential patient outcomes such as recovery time and post-operative pain [6]. These errors likely result from insufficient training [7, 8].

Dynamic force perception and generation are primarily responsible for the competency of compensating for a perturbation in online movement (i.e., an unexpected force during a task). Previous research has shown that force compensation accuracy has many factors including brain hemisphere [9], arm position [10], and force type [11]. However, many of these studies necessarily focus on very simplified tasks and thus leave an open question as to how these findings combine in a more real-world task: a question partially addressed in this thesis. More studies simulating real world tasks will inform the development of motor training devices that seek to meet the requirements of new human-computer interfaces.



CHAPTER 2: BACKGROUND

Humans routinely preform motor tasks that require years of experience. The competency these tasks demand differ between individuals: a surgeon will have different skills than a machinist, for example. However, the underlying sensorimotor systems are the same, and researchers have sought to understand the mechanisms controlling them and the relationships between them for well over a century [2].

2.1 Hemispheric Asymmetries in Upper Limb Control

When researchers began investigating the roles of our hemispheric brains, they initially thought hemispheric differences were due to one side being more specialized for language than the other. However, Goldberg et al. [12, 13] were some of the first to recognize the hemispheric distinction was more universal than this. They contended, essentially, that the left hemisphere was optimized for processing the known while the right hemisphere was concerned with the unknown. Similarly, several decades later, researchers have disproved the popular myth that the dominant arm is "better" than the nondominant: it is more nuanced than that. Each arm has hemispheric specializations, which are responsible for different task components. The fact that the arms are different has sparked questions into what the differences are and how the arms work together in bimanual tasks, a question addressed in Chapter 4. The asymmetries between the control schemes of the human arms have been well documented in many diverse studies. Sainburg [9] introduced the dynamic dominance hypothesis, which stated that the dominant hemisphere is specialized in controlling limb and task dynamics while the nondominant hemisphere specializes in controlling stability and limb posture. Numerous other studies support theory that the dominant and nondominant arm performance asymmetries arise from hemispheric specializations [14–18].



The dominant arm's adept handling of limb dynamics manifests itself in many places. In Sainburg's proposal study, he found better coordination between dominant arm muscle torques (shoulder and elbow joints) compared to nondominant arm joints [9]. Roy and Elliot found that force variability does vary between hands, with the nondominant hand having greater variability, but is not affected by the visual condition [19, 20]. The dynamic dominance hypothesis has been upheld in many different scenarios including studies investigating unsupported reaching [21, 22], load compensation [23], left and right-handers [24], and patients with hemispheric brain damage [25].

The ability of subjects to make corrections based on changes in the inertial resistance experienced during movement was examined by Elliot et al. [26]. The authors used magnetic forces at the home position to increase the force needed to initiate movement (inertia). Once the participant's hand left the home position, the magnetic force was no longer acting on them and would experience an inertial change as a result. Subjects then had to make corrective adjustments as they moved toward the target location. The dominant hand yielded lower peak velocities between visual and no visual conditions as well as faster movement times compared to the nondominant hand. Furthermore, removal of visual feedback had a greater impact on the peak velocity of the left (nondominant) hand than the right: a result which is explored further in the next section. These observations suggest that the dominant hand was more adept at compensating and adjusting for the inertial change than the nondominant hand was.

2.1.1 Visual and Proprioceptive Asymmetries

Many aspects of motor control have been shown to be affected by hemispheric asymmetries and sensory feedback is no exception. Asymmetries have been demonstrated for both visual and proprioceptive feedback separately. Furthermore, research has shown that neither arm relies on visual or haptic sensory feedback to such a degree that it will become effectively useless if one of these streams is lost [27].



www.manaraa.com

As one might expect, when visual feedback is present in a task, performance is better for both arms relative to their performance when it is absent. Apker et al. [28] conducted 3D reaching tasks where the visual condition of the fingertip was varied, and found that the behavior of the dominant and nondominant arms was comparable. However, when vision of the fingertip's position was removed, the variability of the dominant arm increased significantly more than the nondominant's did. This implies that the dominant arm has a proclivity toward visual feedback, but the contralateral hemisphere is also more efficient at online processing during motion. Goble et al. [29, 30] also investigated the reliance of the dominant and nondominant arms on visual and proprioceptive feedback. Their results agree with those produced by the previous study. Additionally, Goble et al. showed an advantage for the nondominant arm when visual feedback is removed and only proprioceptive information is available during the task. Moreover, it has been shown for the case of movement accuracy that visual information takes precedence over proprioceptive feedback [31].

2.2 Directional Arm Control

In this section, several areas are explored in which literature has shown directional differences in arm stiffness, force compensation, and force discrimination. Barbagli et al. [32] tested humans' ability to discriminate between force directions. They used several haptic/visual conditions, but the most precise and the most relevant, was a condition where they showed the subjects congruent haptic and visual information about force direction. They concluded that the perception threshold for force direction was 18.4° for this condition. Another study yielded similar angular precision of approximately 15° in their results [33]. These experiments were performed with a Phantom haptic device and a Microsoft Sidewinder force feedback joystick, respectively. However, a more recent study found a significantly reduced precision compared to that seen in the aforementioned studies. By applying forces to the fingertip, the authors determined that subjects could differentiate between 3D dynamic forces on average approximately 10° apart and above but this number could be as low as 7° depending on the way the force was applied [34]. For the



5

purposes of this research, it suffices to say that humans can discriminate between force directions above a 20° difference.

From a mechanical perspective, a system's response to a force will be highly dependent on its stiffness and viscous properties in the direction of the force. Since the human arm is a complex, multi-joint system actuated by many different muscle groups, these mechanical properties vary by subject, posture, and task. Experiments have yielded stiffness ellipses of the arm with the major elliptical axis often oriented vertically. However, for forces parallel to the forearm, the major axis of the stiffness ellipse is also parallel. For example, this occurs in quadrants 2 and 4 in a two dimensional Cartesian coordinate system. For other force directions, of which the cardinal axes are of special note, the major axis is vertical (or close to it) [10, 35].

Other studies have demonstrated that the direction of reaching (perpendicular or parallel to the forearm) has an effect on the accuracy of planar reaching. Gordon et al. [36, 37] found a relationship between dynamic factors, such as velocity and acceleration, and movement direction with respect to the axial direction of the forearm. Movements in the high inertia direction had lower endpoint accuracy (due to subjects overshooting the target) than movements in lower inertia directions. These dynamic differences in movement amounted to an accuracy difference for movement direction favoring movements parallel with the forearm's axial direction. It is important to emphasize these observations are given with respect to the forearm and not with respect to desired movement direction as in this thesis.

Smyrnis et al. [38] observed the same directional bias. Results yielded a direct relationship between accuracy and inertial characteristics of the arm. However, Smyrnis et al. also observed that the mean directional error decreased over the trajectory timeline (i.e., directional error near the end of the trajectory was less than it was near the beginning). This intra-trial time-dependent variation is due in part to the initial bias at movement onset toward the axis of minimum inertia.

Mugge et al. [39] performed a self-timed goal-directed reaching task with assistive, resistive, and perpendicular force fields measured with respect to the target (i.e., an assistive force pulled the subject toward the target regardless of the subject's position around it). The purpose



6

was to test directional effects of a force field on guiding someone to a target. For the visual target condition, statistically significant effects were seen for reaching time and path length but not for accuracy or precision of the path (although there was a trend with assistive having the best results and perpedicular the worst). Futhermore, the resistive condition had significantly longer paths than any of the other conditions. A second experiment, where subjects were given no visual feedback, produced statistically significant effects of guidance condition on accuracy, precision, reaching time, and path length.

Specific force types, such as multi-directional forces, are key ingredients missing from the existing literature discussed thus far. Kurtzer et al. [11] made a foray into this space, testing both force type and direction. However, their work focused mostly on whether humans learn to separate individual force fields in a multi-force environment. Their results indicated forces parallel to the line of action had less deviation than perpendicular forces did. This is interesting because the errors were calculated only with respect to the direction of the perturbation. This seems to suggest that there is an inherent difference in the way force disturbances are handled by humans depending on the direction of the force. Additionally, their results show less variability in the deviation for parallel compared to perpendicular forces. The authors used an Omni with 4.9N used as the constant force. This has very similar characteristics to the study presented in this thesis (see Chapter 4) although the task requirements vary somewhat: with this work asking subjects to compensate for a force rather than to adapt to one (more info in Chapter 4).

2.3 Reaction Time

Another factor in the visual feedback loop is the time to process a visual information and begin a corrective motion to achieve a desired motor outcome. This is termed reaction time (RT): also known as visual or corrective reaction time. Reaction time has been shown to vary by sex, age [40], individual [41, 42], and even generation [43]. Asymmetries in visual and proprioceptive reliance and processing efficiency also play a role in determining RT. These are just



a few characteristics that affect reaction time. For an exhaustive list of factors affecting reaction times, see Kosinski's compilation [44].

Some of the first studies to estimate RT were done by Keele and Posner [45] and by Beggs and Howarth [46] who obtained mean RTs of 260 ms and 290 ms, respectively. Many other studies have gone on to quantify RT. An extensive review of existing data on RTs was done by Silverman [43] with strict conditions for inclusion in the summary data. This synopsis of a dozen different studies and thousands of combined participants places the cross-experimental average RT at 250 ms for men and 278 ms for women. A large range of reaction times was observed among both sexes with males varying from 183 to 324 ms and females exhibiting a slightly tighter grouping of 224 to 318 ms. In recent, thorough studies, Lin et al. [41, 42] have demonstrated similar RTs to the previously mentioned results despite corrections for procedural and analytical deficits in those studies.

Inefficiencies and biases in processing feedback (formerly discussed in Section 2.1.1) are not the only deficiencies in the sensorimotor loop pertaining to visual feedback. A second serious bottleneck is the psychological refractory period. The psychological refractory period is the time after a visual correction is made where new visual information is received, but cannot be encoded by the central nervous system [47]. This natural phenomena was taken into account for experimental design in this thesis (more discussion in Section 4.1.2).

2.4 Speed-Accuracy Tradeoff

Given the corrective lag in the sensorimotor system, the relationship between speed and accuracy becomes apparent. With a fixed corrective resolution, the maximum accuracy the sensorimotor system can achieve will suffer. Fitts and Peterson [48] were the first to quantify this relationship to Fitts' earlier model (commonly know as Fitts' law) describing the difficulty of a movement. It shows a logarithmic relationship between the target size and the distance to the target [49].



8

Fitts' law is given in Equation 2.1, where ID is the Index of Difficulty, W is the width of the target, and D is the distance to the target.

$$ID = \log_2\left(\frac{2D}{W}\right) \tag{2.1}$$

Fitts' law has been used in a wide variety of applications such as describing foot movements [50], pupil dilation during a task [51], and information transfer rate in brain-computer interfaces [52]. In this thesis, it will be discussed in its traditional form.

Fitts and Peterson [48] went on to expand Fitts' original paper to include temporal information as a factor in the equation (see Eq. 2.2). In this case, MT is the movement time and is linearly related to the difficulty of the movement, where a, b are case dependent constants. A table of different formulations of Fitts' law was assembled by Plamondon and Alimi [53].

$$MT = a + b * \log_2\left(\frac{2D}{W}\right) \tag{2.2}$$

Given humans' physical limitations described by Fitts' law and RTs, a relationship between the speed of a given motion and the accuracy of that motion is inevitable. In fact, we know and account for it innately [54]. Several studies have examined the functional relationship between speed and accuracy or the "speed-accuracy tradeoff". Howarth et al. [55] designed an experiment in which subjects moved from a position near their shoulder and to a surface 50 cm in front of them. Their task was to tap different targets on the surface. A more recent study had participants interact with a 2D visual environment through a joystick. Participants were asked to move to different target locations on screen. Results showed an effect on maximum speed and acceleration with horizontal movements having the higher values compared to vertical movements. Finally, they showed that different parameters affected the response at different periods of motion. The direction and distance of the target had significant effects in the initial stage of execution while the target size affected the last part of the response [56].



Another study aimed to test the limits of Fitts' law by using moving targets at various velocities and distances. Subjects were asked to move from a starting position at the center of a screen to target falling vertically on one side of the screen. Thus, unlike previous studies, the distance to the target, *D*, was not constant. An inverse relationship between speed and accuracy was demonstrated, and the authors found Fitts' law accurately described the results [57].

2.5 Force Perception

Thus far, sensory feedback review has been focused on the literature surrounding the visual system. The next sections will center more on haptic sensory feedback.

Our sense of touch, including force perception, is gained through two main systems: cutaneous and kinesthetic. In general, the cutaneous system is responsible for exteroceptive sensing while the kinesthetic system governs the proprioceptive elements [58]. The cutaneous system gathers information from sensors in the skin on surface textures, temperature, pressure on the skin, etc. Proprioceptive details such as bodily positions and information from sensors at muscles, joints, and tendons pertain to the kinesthetic system [59].

One way to describe the perception of force at various intensities is Weber's law, which posits a linear relationship between stimulus intensity and just noticeable difference to a subject. Weber's law is also commonly rearranged to find the constant relating the stimulus intensity to the perceptual difference. These realtionships are known as Weber's law and Weber's fraction and given in Equations 2.3 and 2.4, respectively, where ΔI is the just noticeable difference in intensity, *I* is the stimulus intensity, and *K* is a constant relating the two variables.

$$\Delta I = IK \tag{2.3}$$

$$\frac{\Delta I}{I} = K \tag{2.4}$$

Jones and Hunter [60] applied Weber's fraction to demonstrate an exponential relationship in human stiffness perception with a bimanual stiffness matching task where a subject received a



reference stiffness on one hand and adjusted the stiffness of a motor felt on their other hand until perceived matching was achieved. Results showed an exponential decrease in the Weber fraction with increasing stimulus intensity. The same relationship was demonstrated for force in an earlier work [61]. Similarly, Weber's fraction was seen to decrease with increasing mass up to 200g when it began to level off [62].

The central nervous system (CNS) builds internal models in part from experiential information gained through the cutaneous and kinesthetic systems. This is also where the formerly discussed biases emerge. The CNS builds internal models of the body, motor tasks, and the external environment. These internal models are thought to formulate motor commands with input from sensing systems as well as behavioral goals. Therefore, the discrepancy in force perception would arise within these models when the difference between the predicted response and the actual response is not equal to zero; where the predicted response is generated by the internal models and the actual response is given by the exteroceptive and proprioceptive information [63]. Thus, force attenuation is a purposeful, albeit unconscious, reaction to external events. One explanation for the purpose of attenuating self-generated forces is to counteract the noise produced within the different levels of hierarchy in the human motor system. By decreasing proprioceptive forces, our force perception becomes more focused on exteroceptive forces [64].

These naturally occurring mismatches manifest themselves in interesting ways. An example of sources of error in a force perception task is given by the size-weight illusion. The size-weight illusion occurs when the size and weight of an object are negatively correlated. That is, when one is given two objects of the same weight but different size, the larger object will be perceived as the lighter of the two. This illusion originates from the size-weight relationship often occurring in nature which is to have a positive correlation between size and weight [65]. Another motivational example is attenuation of self generated forces. One of the consequences of force attenuation is overestimating a force during a force recreation task. This phenomenon has been documented by several experiments including Shergill et al. [4] who found an average increase in self-recreated forces of over 30 percent. Another study subsequently showed that this phenomenon



held true for a bimanual force perception case in which participants received an input force on one hand and tried to simultaneously recreate that force on their other hand [66].

2.6 Force Perception Training and Experience

Internal models stored in the brain can be improved through deliberate training. Previous work has shown that an individual can be trained to become more accurate with force discrimination. Of course, the sensors themselves cannot be changed, but our perception of them can and has been. Flanagan et al. showed that these internal models could be augmented through experience to mitigate the natural tendency toward the size-weight illusion. Participants gained experience lifting objects with negatively correlated size-weight relationships of different sizes and shapes. The participants adapted through the training to accommodate the inverse relationship between size and weight of the experimental objects [67]. Valles and Reed showed that participants could be trained to overcome nature force attenuation in a bimanual recreation task. Participants received visual feedback of how much force they were applying with each hand during force recreation trials. An improvement in perception without feedback was found after a one day rest period, which suggests that internal models had been augmented through training [66].

Despite the studies showing the efficacy of targeted training in reversing some perceptual biases, the question of whether on-the-job occupational training can do this indirectly is still an open question. If not, occupations relying on high skilled bimanual motor skills may benefit from such training. This subject has been of particular interest to the field of laparoscopic surgery where force feedback and perception are paramount. Analysis of common surgical errors has demonstrated excessive force application is a significant problem [68]. In fact, a recent study showed that excessive force application accounted for 55% of all consequential errors during surgery [6].

Real world studies have shown that experience plays a role in specific force perception tasks. Experienced surgeons were seen to have a higher force perception threshold, but faster reaction times than novices [69, 70]. Similarly, experienced surgeons performed significantly



better in a study on bimanual force recreation using laparoscopic instruments (LI). Interestingly, out of the two interaction modalities (finger and LI), subjects were more accurate when they used an LI than when they used their own fingers. Finally, results showed accuracy and force intensity were positively correlated (i.e., accuracy increased as the force magnitude became larger) [71, 72].

2.7 Force Production and Finger Configurations

Much of the work relating to finger configurations has been in force production tasks. Although this represents the opposite side of the coin to perception in some sense, it is very relevant to a force recreation task. Also, this work demonstrates the potential of finger configurations as a factor, which could affect force perception accuracy. The ability to control each finger's force production independently was shown for the gripping task in which participants were able to control the amount of force each finger produced independently. In this case, anticipatory adjustments to the amount of force on each finger were made in response to an imminent slip [73]. This further showed that fingers could be recruited for a specific goal such as a gripping task.

Researchers have examined the maximal voluntary contraction (MVC) associated with individual finger and multi-finger configurations. A force deficit was found when comparing the MVC of a given individual finger with the force output by the same finger in a multi-finger configuration. One study looked at the force production task extensively with relation to how finger configurations affected it. The study found that the aforementioned force deficit increased with an increasing number of fingers with respect to each finger. In terms of force production dominance, the index and middle fingers were the most dominant out of the four digits followed by the ring and little fingers, respectively. Different synergy levels were proposed as determining how much force each finger will contribute to total applied force. This whole process is controlled by the CNS, which ultimately delegates the force of each individual finger [74].

The previously mentioned literature examined force production and its relationship to finger configuration. Ambike et al. [75] investigated the affects of removing visual force feedback in a bimanual force production task. Participants were initially given continuous force feedback



in relation to a desired reference force as well as the ratio of force production between hands. Subjects' goal was to maintain steady state at a given production ratio between the arms for a given reference force magnitude, which was based on a percentage of MVC. Both forms of feedback were removed after a set time interval. Despite being asked to maintain specific force magnitudes and production ratios, participants tended to reduce force magnitude and converge on a production ratio of 0.4-0.5 between the hands. They further found that the force drop, which after visual feedback was removed, was significantly greater for the nondominant hand than the dominant.



CHAPTER 3: BIMANUAL FORCE RECREATION

Humans perform many tasks throughout the day that require bimanual coordination and skill. Depending on a person's occupation, there are varying skill levels required to perform their jobs in an accurate, efficient manner. An increasingly relevant problem for people who require high bimanual skill is the inaccuracy of self-recreated forces, or bimanual force perception. The purpose of this study is to expand our understanding of human force perception by examining the effect of occupational bimanual skill levels, interaction methods, force levels, and confidence on one's ability to recreate a force. This is applicable in surgery and physical therapy where the application of force is an important aspect of the treatment. Note this is a force recreation task where recreation and reproduction are used interchangeably to describe the task subjects are performing.

Portions of this chapter have been previously published by IEEE in *Assessing the Effect of Experience on Bimanual Force Recreation* [76] and *Effect of Weight and Number of Fingers on Bimanual Force Recreation* [77]. Copyright 2016 IEEE.

3.1 Experiment

3.1.1 Experimental Setup

The experimental setup consisted of two Omega force sensors (LCM703-10) interfacing with a Phidget Wheatstone Bridge (Phidget 1046) to collect the force data from participants pressing down on two levers. The Phidgets interfaced with a RaspberryPi 2 computer. This was done to allow for a portable setup that could easily be taken to the offices of people working in different professions (i.e., engineers, physical therapists, and surgeons). The computer was attached to the back of the setup where the experimenter could see the screen but the participants could not (see Figure 3.1). A mechanical system of weights was used to provide a force on the



input hand while the output hand tried to recreate the force on the opposing side. One force sensor was attached to each of the levers to determine the applied force.

3.1.2 Procedure

Participants were seated in front of the device and asked to make themselves comfortable. A padded arm rest was used to elevate the subject's forearms to the height of the finger pads. Two levers were presented to the participant. One lever was static and one lever was attached to known weights. The participant was asked to press down on the lever with weights to lift up the weights (unseen by the participant) and then to recreate the force with the other hand on the unmoving lever (see Figure 3.2). The procedure was demonstrated to the participants prior to the experiment. Questions regarding the experimental procedure were answered, and the system was demonstrated to ensure each participant's full comprehension of their task during the experiment.



Figure 3.1: The setup for the bimanual force recreation experiment is shown with the input hand shown on the right. The front of the system, including the arm rest, is at the top of the figure. The back of the system is below with the Raspberry Pi and onboard display for the administrator. These forces were generated using a purely mechanical system with a lever and pre-measured weights. The weights were verified using a scale accurate within 0.01N.





Figure 3.2: A schematic of the recreation device showing the force sensors, weights, and experimental setup.

At the beginning of each trial, participants were told to use either one finger (index finger) or three fingers (index, middle, and ring fingers) prior to each trial. There were 40 trials lasting five seconds each. Participants were instructed to indicate when they were applying the same force on both hands. Therefore, the length of the whole experiment depended on the individual participant, but usually lasted approximately 12-15 minutes. The forces tested during the experiment followed a linear distribution ranging from 4N to 13.7N. Each load was applied four times in a random order during the experiment.

3.1.3 Participants

The participants came from three occupational fields: engineering, surgery, and physical therapy. Demographics on occupation, time active in their field, and handedness were collected. Ten participants participated in the study, which were divided into two equal groups of high skilled (i.e., physical therapists and surgeons) and average skilled (i.e., engineers) occupations. Note that skill here refers to a generalized level of skill for each subject's occupation and does not represent individual abilities necessarily. Physical therapists and surgeons comprise medical disciplines which heavily rely on manual skill and were thus considered to belong to high manual skill occupations. Engineers, generally, do not require a higher than average level of manual skill for their jobs. They were therefore used as an average skill group representing the general public.



Of these participants, there were five engineers, two surgeons, and three physical therapists. All the participants were male. Five of which identified as right hand dominant: five left. This study was approved by the University of South Florida Institutional Review Board and all participants signed an approved consent form.

3.2 **Results and Discussion**

A three-way repeated measures ANOVA was performed with relative error between the hands as the dependent variable and independent variables were the number of fingers (one or three), weight applied (4, 6.4, 8.8, 11.3, 13.7)N, and learning effects (over four repetitions). As expected, learning was not statistically significant. Number of fingers was statistically significant (F(1,9) = 14.89, p = .004) with force recreation error means of 26% and 47% for one and three fingers, respectively. The amount of weight was statistically significant (F(4,36) = 9.02, p < .01).

A one-way ANOVA was performed with relative error between the hands as the dependent variable and the independent variable as experience level (average or high). The difference between skill groups was not statistically significant (F(1,4.34) = 1.56, p = .21).

3.2.1 Effect of Weight on Bimanual Force Recreation

Results reaffirmed the findings of previous research showing that humans have a tendency to overestimate self generated forces. However, the tendency shown in another study for subjects simultaneously producing self-generated forces on both hands to move toward an equal production ratio was not seen in this recreation task [75]. Also, force attenuation, as the sole explanation of the error, has been challenged by Onneweer et al. [78]. Their argument is that errors arising from feedback deficits should be eliminated if a force is generated and reproduced by the same hand. Since the same hand was used to create and reproduce a force in their study, they posit that force attenuation alone cannot describe the differences seen in their results.

For finger configuration, using one finger was more accurate than three fingers with 45% less error. Both of these results, in combination with a participant survey (see Section 3.2.4





Figure 3.3: The post-hoc test with Bonferroni corrections is shown for accuracy vs. weight. Note: the bars at the top indicate statistical significance between pairs where * means p < .05 and ** means p < .01. Copyright 2016 IEEE [77].

for more details), confirmed the disconnect between intended and actual actions. Interestingly, although the weights followed a linear distribution, the weight-accuracy relationship seen in Figure 3.3 follows what appears to be an exponential function with weight inversely affecting error. Another study saw the same tread between weight and accuracy [71]. A correlation between force magnitude and reproduction error has been shown. Indeed the same trend of decreasing error with increasing force (up to 100N in their experiment) was seen [78].

One explanation for this relationship might be Weber's law, which shows an exponential relationship for haptic stimuli such as stiffness [60], force [61], and mass [62]. These relationships decrease exponentially in all cases. Although the results in Figure 3.3 are not directly comparable to the Weber fraction for force, they do represent subjects' force perception as a function of increasing intensity. Therefore, the results presented here may be analogous to the relationship of just noticeable difference to stimulus intensity: the definition of Weber's law.



3.2.2 Effect of Number of Fingers on Bimanual Force Recreation

A statistically significant difference was found between using a single finger and using three fingers during the bimanual force perception. The participants' force perception error with one finger was approximately half that of the three finger configuration with mean force recreation errors of 26% and 47% for one and three fingers, respectively. The force applied by each hand differed by only about 10% for trials using a single finger configuration; however, this increased significantly for the three finger configuration, which had a difference of almost 50%.

It is unclear why one finger was more accurate than three fingers. One explanation might come from subjects thinking that using one finger was less accurate (see Section 3.2.4 for more details), thus increasing their focus and effort. This might also be why Prasad et al. [71] observed a performance increase when subjects used a laparoscopic instrument instead of their own finger. Another explanation could be a compound error arising from a multi-finger combination. Finally, an experiment to further explore these potential explanations is outlined in the Future Works section.

3.2.3 Effect of Experience on Bimanual Force Recreation

Although my initial hypothesis and the existing research pointed to experience playing a role in force recreation, the results did not confirm this. However, the high skilled subjects were much more consistent as a group compared to the average skilled group with standard deviations in percent error between subjects within their groups of 13% and 68%, respectively. Both the most and least accurate subjects belong to the average skilled group.

Figure 3.4 shows the participants grouped together by motor skill level with engineers on top in the average category and surgeons and physical therapists in the high category. The post-hoc test revealed the most and least accurate participants were engineers. The high accuracy of two of the five engineers may mean that the assumption that engineers would be a good control group may be false; although this is unlikely. Participants' results came as somewhat of a surprise as it had been previously shown that direct training could make an individual more accurate at a force



perception task [66]. In any case, those that were trained with delicate forces and precision of motion (i.e., surgeons) and applying whole body forces and motions (i.e., physical therapists) do not appear to be any better at recreating an applied force than those who have not been formally trained.



Figure 3.4: The average and standard errors are shown for relative error vs. subject. Relative error was calculated as the difference of the force applied by the input hand minus the recreation (output) hand all relative to the input (reference) force. Subjects are shown grouped according to occupational experience (see Participants section above for skill definitions). Copyright 2016 IEEE [76].

As in the case of the size-weight illusion (discussed in Section 2.5), the highly skilled participants may not have experienced situations that caused them to confront their natural tendency to attenuate self-produced forces. Individuals have been trained to overcome this natural discrepancy by contrasting their perception and reality [66]. Furthermore, several studies have shown experienced surgeons are more accurate at force perception and make fewer in task errors than residents do [71, 72]. Results presented in this thesis do not agree with previous studies likely due to the small sample size and the mix of PTs and surgeons in the high skill group.



3.2.4 Confidence

Occupational skill level was not a factor in judging which configuration was most accurate; participants from both high and average motor skill groups were equally likely to answer incorrectly. At the end of the experiment, participants were asked how accurate they thought they were on average during the experiment on a scale of 1 to 5. Most of the engineers thought they had performed at a 3; only one responded more confidently at a 4. However, the higher skilled participants responded with more confidence and had an average of confidence of 4. This further indicates that these medical professionals were not only unable to accuracy recreate forces, but they also thought themselves more accurate than they actually were. This poses an interesting question about whether surgeons and physical therapists are actually applying the forces they think they are.

When asked which finger configuration, if any, they thought made them more accurate, 60% of participants said they were more accurate using three fingers than one. Here again, participants were unable to correctly judge the most accurate interaction method available to them since they were actually much more accurate with one finger compared to three.



CHAPTER 4: FORCE COMPENSATION IN A TRACKING TASK

As discussed at the beginning of this thesis, the motivation for exploration of the human sensorimotor system is due in large part to the medical community. This second study seeks to determine whether asymmetries in arm stiffness and movement accuracy continue to a dynamic force compensation task. Such knowledge is useful when designing human-robot interfaces for delicate tasks where forces need to be simulated and perceived with a high degree of accuracy.

4.1 Experiment

4.1.1 Experimental Setup

Subjects used a Sensable Omni to track the target as it moved across the screen (see Figure 4.1). The Omni displayed the perturbation forces while a C++ program, which ran at 1000Hz, recorded the position of the on-screen cursor and other experimental data.

The experiments were performed in a well lit room. Subjects' vision was not altered, so they could see their arms, the Omni, the screen, etc. during the experiments. The screen used to display the tracking task was a standard 23" desktop monitor with a refresh rate of 60 Hz. The colors seen in Figure 4.2 were chosen based on the contrast of all the elements to each other. This ensured participants could easily see any element at any position. During the experiments, subjects had their arms supported by a pillow to ensure a consistent arm position between participants and trials. The support kept their arms approximately level with the plane they were moving in.

4.1.2 Procedure

Participants were presented with a tracking task. They were told they would be perturbed in different directions within the 2D plane they moved in, and they were to "try to stay as close to





Figure 4.1: An overhead view of the setup showing a subject interacting with the visual-haptic environment. Also note the physical Omni cursor.

the center of the target as possible." No information about the force direction or speed of the target was provided to the subjects. The screen (seen in Figure 4.2) showed participants the moving target as well as the Omni position cursor during trials with full visual feedback. A tracking task was chosen for this experiment so that errors in two dimensions could be calculated (see Figure 4.3). During all trials the target moved in a horizontal line from left to right as depicted in Figure 4.2.

Participants experienced three different target velocities and nine different perturbations on each arm during the experiment (listed below). Each velocity condition was constant for a given set of perturbation conditions. For example, if 60 mm/s was set as the target velocity, all of the perturbations would be looped through before the target velocity was changed. They were given a one minute mandatory break on each arm after each set of perturbation conditions (9 trials). This was done in order to reduce fatigue effects and to ensure consistency between subjects.





Figure 4.2: Two example screens of the experiment are shown. Representations of the force fields are shown for convenience, but were invisible to the participants. On the left side, a "right" force field is depicted while a "Quadrant 3" force field is on the right side. Salient portions of the screen are annotated: also not visible to participants.



Figure 4.3: A depiction of how X and Y errors were defined. The Omni cursor shown at the zero error position. Note: only the Omni cursor (blue) and the target (red) were visible during the trial.



Figure 4.4: All force perturbation conditions are shown in a 2D plane acting on the Omni endpoint. There were nine total force conditions with the one condition not shown being the no force, baseline condition. The naming conventions seen in this figure will be used consistently throughout this thesis.



The following is the full structure of the experiment:

- Training trials (22 trials total)
 - 10 training trials at the beginning of each hand
 - 2 training trials at the beginning of each new velocity (3 times on each hand)
- Condition trials (54 trials total)
 - 3 target velocity conditions
 - * 40 mm/s (Slow)
 - * 60 mm/s (Medium)
 - * 80 mm/s (Fast)
 - 9 perturbation conditions (see also Figure 4.4)
 - * No force
 - * Up
 - * Down
 - * Left
 - * Right
 - * Quadrant 1 (Q1)
 - * Quadrant 2 (Q2)
 - * Quadrant 3 (Q3)
 - * Quadrant 4 (Q4)

4.1.3 Participants

Subjects who participated in the study were all healthy individuals who possessed no known physical or neurological disabilities that would corrupt their results. All six participants were right handed; half were male. This handedness restriction was implemented due to the variance found



in several studies between left- and right-handers [24, 79–81]. Their ages ranged from 22 to 47 years old. All participants signed a consent form for this study approved by the University of South Florida's Institutional Review Board.

4.2 **Results and Discussion**

Statistical analysis was performed in SPSS with a multivariate, 3-way ANOVA on X, Y, and root mean square (RMS) error (see Table 4.1) and a 3-way ANOVA on peak acceleration. Post hoc tests using a Bonferroni correction were performed on statistically significant results for comparison. Independent factors were hand, speed, and force condition, and dependent variables were parallel (X), perpendicular (Y), RMS error (see Eq. 4.1), and peak acceleration. Error here means the difference between the position of the haptic interface point on screen and the center of the moving target (see Figure 4.3).

$$RMS = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} E_i^2}{n}}$$
(4.1)

All position data was filtered using a first order Butterworth filter with a 20Hz cutoff frequency. This frequency was chosen because it is above the maximum frequency for human motion and below Omni sensor and motor operating frequencies. Time data was filtered using the average of the nearest five data points. This ensured an appropriate linear increase without time gaps from errors in encoding. Additionally, all data was interpolated to 7500 data points to account for different speeds (trial lengths). This number of data points was just above the number contained in the longest trial, which meant no data was lost in the interpolation process.

As shown in Table 4.1, target speed and force direction were statistically significant factors but hand was not. Post hoc tests are discussed in their respective sections below, and further analyses are also presented and discussed. A note on all plots depicting experiment paths, errors, etc. is the cause of the initial peak at approximately 50 mm (or 1000 data points) into the trial. This was due to the subjects catching up to the target after a small reaction delay when the target



Hand	RMS	F(1,5) = 0.04	p = 0.948
	Y	F(1,5) = 0.30	p = 0.585
	X	F(1,5) = 0.05	p = 0.819
	RMS	F(2,10) = 39.43	p < 0.0001
Speed	Y	F(2,10) = 24.36	p < 0.0001
	X	F(2,10) = 34.85	p < 0.0001
Force Condition	RMS	F(8,40) = 15.31	p < 0.0001
	Y	F(8,40) = 18.78	p < 0.0001
	X	F(8,40) = 21.79	p < 0.0001

Table 4.1: Statistical results obtained from a multivariate, 3-way ANOVA for hand, speed, and force condition factors.

Table 4.2: Average and standard deviation for groups of force perturbations reported for each component of error.

		RMS	Y	X
	All	5.19	2.58	6.30
Average	Parallel	6.77	2.10	8.97
	Perpendicular	4.42	3.40	4.378
	Diagonals	5.27	2.71	6.51
Standard Deviation	All	1.10	0.62	1.77
	Parallel	0.37	0.01	0.55
	Perpendicular	0.19	0.14	0.22
	Diagonals	0.23	0.20	0.34

began moving. As seen in the plots, enough time was given to allow subjects to reach steady state before they were perturbed.

4.2.1 Hemispheric Asymmetries

Hemispheric asymmetries, as discussed in Section 2.1, did not significantly affect the performance of either hand. Given that subjects could take advantage of full visual feedback during compensation, this result was expected. If the visual feedback condition was varied, it is likely that the dominant arm would suffer disproportionately [28, 29]. Removing visual feedback might also reveal some other differences as to whether there are hemispheric advantages based on



force direction with respect to the line of action. This is because visual feedback, when available, takes precedence over proprioceptive feedback [31].

4.2.2 Force Direction

For force directions, post hoc tests unsurprisingly indicated the RMS error for the baseline force condition was statistically significantly different than all other force directions with the exception of a downward force. Furthermore, none of the four diagonal directions were shown to be statistically significantly different from each other in any of the error cases (X, Y, or RMS). However, a statistically significant difference between perpendicular and parallel groups, but not within groups, was found in each error case (see Figures 4.5, 4.6, & 4.7).



Figure 4.5: The average and standard errors are shown for the mean X axis error versus force condition.

Significance is also seen when contrasting error magnitudes in the two axial directions. Errors in the X direction are higher than in the Y even after subtracting baseline error in both cases. Comparing Figures 4.5 & 4.6, the differences continue when contrasting off axis errors (OAEs) where off axis error means the error in the direction normal to the direction of the pertur-





Figure 4.6: The average and standard errors are shown for the mean Y axis error versus force condition.

bation. OAEs for the right and left (parallel) perturbations are significantly higher than baseline while OAEs for up and down (perpendicular) perturbations are almost the same as the baseline component. Therefore, subjects actively or passively create a significant off axis error with respect to the baseline error only for perturbations that are along their line of action (LOA). Based on these observations, subjects are able to minimize OAE for perpendicular but not parallel forces.

In Figure 4.8, X error has a remarkably higher standard deviation than Y error does. Averages and standard deviations of parallel and perpendicular groups in Table 4.2 support the same conclusion. The average and standard deviation of the RMS error are significantly higher for perturbations parallel to the LOA than for perpendicular ones. This may link back to humans' reaction time and the refractory period associated with a corrective reaction [42, 44]. The desired position at the center of the target can be thought of as an intersection point of two lines (see Figure 4.3). In this scenario, the position of the horizontal line, which corresponds to zero Y error, never changes. This is not true for the vertical line corresponding to X error, which moves continuously with the speed of the target. Given the lag inherent in the human sensorimotor system,





Figure 4.7: The average and standard errors are shown for the mean RMS error versus force condition.

converging on a continuously shifting reference point would be meaningfully more challenging. Comparing mean X and Y errors for baseline, this is clearly demonstrated. Likewise, the magnitude of X errors is much higher than those for Y on average for all other force conditions. Subtracting baseline error does not have an effect on the statistical results or on the salient portions of the estimate error plots. This is important because it shows that the higher magnitude of X error is independent of the tracking task to some extent.

Biomechanics also plays a role in determining directional dependence as previously discussed in Section 2.2. It has been well established that stiffness [10, 35] and force generation [82] vary with respect to the forearm's axis. However, the effect of task specifics has also been well studied and has demonstrated that factors, such as velocity and acceleration profiles [36], can be changed by a subject based on task requirements. Therefore, the question of whether a subject's ability to compensate for a perturbation with respect to the line of action does not directly follow from known biomechanical knowledge.



The results seen in planar reaching [36, 37] continue here when a subject is perturbed during a tracking task; with the highest accuracy corresponding to compensations parallel to the forearm (Note: this is approximately perpendicular to the LOA). One could conclude that either the differences seen are due to the orientation with respect to the forearm or with respect to the LOA. However, the two conclusions, while unique, are not contradictory.



Figure 4.8: Average X & Y error of each force condition along the trial path with standard deviation at each point depicted with shading. All units are in mm.



32

4.2.2.1 Error Estimates

This section further assesses the potential differences in directional error and explores how errors might combine. This is an endeavor to shed light on the ambiguity discussed in the previous section between perturbations taken with respect to the forearm and perturbations with respect to the LOA. Error was estimated for a particular force condition by taking its two adjacent errors and combining them. For example, up and right condition data was used to simulate Q1 error. This simulation was then compared to the actual data for that condition. It is consequential to note that this method is unique from previously presented analyses. Results can be seen in Figures 4.10 & 4.11; slightly different methods were used for the diagonal and cardinal direction groups. The procedure for deriving these estimates is given below:

- Appropriate component errors were taken from each component direction. For instance, in the case of estimating Q1, the X error of the right force condition and the Y error of the up were used. The absolute value was taken of all components, and the mean value at each data point was calculated.
- The corresponding mean baseline error was subtracted from each component; e.g., if the Y error from the up condition was used, the baseline (no force condition) Y error was subtracted.
- 3. A scaling or correction factor was then applied.
 - (a) For diagonal directions, a scaling factor of 80/20 was applied to get a good match between the estimate and actual errors. The component errors were combined with 20% of the X error and the remaining 80% from the Y error. Note this is not a 50/50 combination: the consequences of this are discussed below.
 - (b) For cardinal directions, a correction factor of $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ was applied. This was to account for Omni force limitations and is discussed at length below.
- 4. Each component, estimate and actual errors were then plotted for comparison.



- (a) For diagonal directions, actual error is the RMS error.
- (b) For cardinal directions, actual error is the error only in that direction; e.g., only the actual Y error associated with up.

One assumption made in this process was that the relationship between force and error is linear (E = a * F + b); where E is the error (independent variable), F is the perturbing force (dependent variable), and a, b are constants. This means that, in the case of the diagonal direction estimates seen in Figure 4.9(a), some percentage combination of each error should be present. If the contribution is equal, then a simple average of the two errors should be a good approximation. If this is not true, then clearly one error component is contributing a majority of error.



Figure 4.9: A representation of the force vectors and the vector addition required for simulation. (a) Perturbation forces from two axial direction conditions are used to recreate the diagonal force. No scaling is necessary in this case. (b) Component forces are taken from two diagonal directions and used to replicate the intermediate axial force. Scaling is necessary in this case since the average of the component forces is not equivalent to the magnitude of axial force.

Given the Omni's maximum total force output, scaling was necessary when using the error from a perturbation with more than one force component (i.e. diagonal directions). Since only one component error was taken from each condition (either X or Y), taking the average of two of these constituents would not be equivalent to the perturbation force or the resulting error, assuming a linear relationship between perturbation force and compensation error. Figure 4.9 demonstrates this case. Mathematically, this is shown by considering a force of unit magnitude representing the



maximum force an Omni can display (F = 1). For a diagonal force at 45°, either component of the diagonal force would be $\frac{F}{\sqrt{2}}$. Thus, when using the average of diagonal component forces (or their corresponding errors), a correction factor of $\sqrt{2}$ must be used.



Figure 4.10: Comparing diagonal data with an estimate of the data generated from the two components' data.

As mentioned previously, one would expect an equal ratio when combining errors for a diagonal perturbation at 45°. However, using an equal ratio between the X and Y components did not provide a good match, and is, in fact, likely not the case. A ratio of 4:1 (Y:X error) provided a reasonably good estimate of the actual errors seen in Figure 4.10. The purpose of this ratio was not to determine the actual contributions from the X and Y components, but rather to show that their



contributions are not equal. Furthermore, the 4:1 ratio use is different than ratio of Y error to X error for the baseline condition. This suggests that the error combination is not caused exclusively by the tracking task itself.



Figure 4.11: Comparing cardinal direction data with an estimate of the data generated from the two components' data.

Upon examining the cardinal direction estimates (see Figure 4.11), the results become more perplexing. Here a simple average of two component errors was used. For example, the Y error from Q1 and Q2 directions were used to estimate the up error, which was compared to the actual Y error of the up condition. This did not require a ratio adjustment presumably because X and Y errors were not combined (only one component was used per estimate).



Several phenomena seen here were also seen in a previous study [83]. In most of the conditions seen in Figures 4.10 & 4.11, the second error peak is significantly smaller than the first one. In both the previous study and this one, the are seemingly two plausible explanations for this. One is that participants were able to predict the end of the force field better than the beginning, and thus reduce their error upon exiting the field. The second explanation is that subjects are able to react more quickly to self-generated perturbations (exiting) than to externally generated ones (entering). Another phenomenon seen here and in previous work was a remarkably larger error peak in the right perturbation error versus the left (see Figure 4.11). The most obvious explanation of this is a biomechanical cause. However, there was no statistically significant difference shown between the hands, which one would expect if biomechanical differences between the hands had significant effects. One other cause might be how the motor system handles perturbations in goal directed tasks. It has been shown that forces with an assistive effect increase accuracy [39]. Although the right force was not pushing directly toward the target, it was pushing in the direction the target was moving.

4.2.3 Acceleration

Acceleration is a useful addition because it provides a window into intent. Once deceleration begins, one can assume the subject has started compensating for the perturbation even though direction might not be reversed yet. Thus, acceleration provides a different picture of the underlying system at work. Another example of the contrast between the position and acceleration plots is seen in Figure 4.12. The oscillatory acceleration responses can be seen upon the subject entering the force field, but position responses are much smoother (refer to Figures A.1, A.2, & A.3 in Appendix A). This is, at least in part, due to heavy reliance on visual feedback: a subject would find perceivable oscillations to be unnatural.

The acceleration was found numerically from position data using the central divided difference (CDD) method given in Equation 4.2 for the second derivative:



37

$$CDD = \frac{f(t_{i+1}) - 2f(t_i) + f(t_{i-1})}{(\Delta t)^2}$$
(4.2)

where the time step, Δt , is given by:

$$\Delta t = t(i+1) - t(i) \tag{4.3}$$

Time steps were filtered and interpolated and therefore assumed to be equal such that this numerical method is valid. Note: real world time was recorded and used here so that interpolation would not invalidate the acceleration numbers obtained.



Figure 4.12: Examples of acceleration response when subjects entered force field during two perturbations. (a) is a perturbation toward the right. (b) is an upward perturbation.

The MATLAB algorithm *findpeaks* was used to find peak accelerations from the data with the maximum taken from the resulting peaks for each trial. The 3-way ANOVA showed statistical significance only for force condition (F(8,40) = 72.33, p < 0.0001). Hand (F(1,5) = 1.68, p = 0.20) and target speed (F(2,10) = 0.87, p = 0.42) were not statistically significant effects nor were any interactions between factors. Post-hoc tests using a Bonferroni correction were conducted on the statistically significant effect, force condition. Baseline was statistically significantly different than all other force conditions. See Figure 4.13 for all post-hoc comparisons. Left and right accelerations are not statistically significantly different, but up and down are. The same result was





Figure 4.13: The post-hoc test with Bonferroni corrections is shown for the mean peak acceleration versus force condition. Notes: (1) baseline was statistically significantly different than all other conditions and is not explicit shown at top, (2) the bars at the top indicate statistical significance between pairs where * means p < 0.05, ** means p < 0.01, and *** means p < 0.001.

seen in a study by Gentili et al. [84]. The up/down trend continues with the diagonal perturbations where Q1 and Q2 are not different from each other, but they are different from Q3 and Q4, which are not different from each other. This within group difference is likely due to the down condition being directed toward the body: a biomechanical difference.

4.2.4 Speed-Accuracy Effects

Results showed a clear increase in error with increasing speed, which agrees with previous research [56, 57]. Post hoc tests revealed each of the three speeds were statistically significantly



	RMS	Y	X
Slow	4.15	2.15	4.98
Medium	5.12	2.57	6.20
Fast	6.30	3.02	7.72

Table 4.3: Mean errors from each speed corresponding to each error type.

different from each other in each error case (RMS error shown in Figure 4.14. See also Tables 4.1 & 4.3).

As argued in Section 4.2.2, from a controls perspective, there is a difference in the input or reference goal to the human system between the X and Y directions (refer to Figure 4.3 for error definitions). In a tracking task, the Y reference is a step input while X reference can be thought of as a ramp function. This theory can further the explanation in this case of the decreasing accuracy with increasing speed. Given the relatively constant reaction times (RTs) for a subject seen in previous studies [41], an increase in speed between otherwise identical trials would yield an increase in the distance the target traveled between RTs.

Fitts' law, discussed in Section 2.4, can be rewritten in a linear form with the index of difficulty, ID, as the independent variable (Equation 4.4 shows this linear form). Similarly, there appears to be a linear relationship between mean error and speed in Figure 4.14. If one considers error as the distance between the subject's position and the target's center, then the distance in Fitts' law (Equation 2.2) is defined. Similarly, movement time, MT, can be thought of as the time it takes the participant to move across this distance. Finally, W, the width of the target, remains constant across all trials in this experiment.

$$MT = a + b * ID \tag{4.4}$$

However, this experimental design and Fitts' original definition may not be directly compatible. The distance to the target, as defined above, does not remain constant since the target's velocity relative to the subject's may not be zero or even a constant (the subject accelerates or



decelerates at times). Additionally, the subject must counter a force field, which affects movement time. The question of moving targets (i.e., changing D) has been addressed previously with a different experimental design (see Section 2.4 for more details). Chiu et al. [57] found that using a constant ID, as defined by Fitts, but varying velocity resulted in a negative correlation between velocity and error (the same is seen in Figure 4.14).



Figure 4.14: The average and standard errors are shown here for the mean RMS error vs. speed condition.



Figure 4.15: Linear regression equation for mean RMS error versus speed plotted with original data points.

$$E = a + b * v \tag{4.5}$$

Thus, the relationship between Equations 4.4 & 4.5 cannot be confirmed from this experiment alone. The linear regression equation is given in Equation 4.5; where *a* and *b* are constants proportional to a subject's reaction time and task specifics (target width/distance, accuracy requirements, etc.), *E* is error, and *v* is target velocity. Using the data from Figure 4.14, the linear regression model for Equation 4.5 is E = 0.538 + 1.97v with $R^2 = 0.99$ (see Figure 4.15). It is unclear whether this linear relationship extends beyond these results based on this data only. More speeds are necessary to verify the relationship seen here between speed and accuracy for a tracking task where both movement time and movement amplitude are constrained.



CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS

The work presented in this thesis expands the field of knowledge of human perception. Understanding human perception is essential to designing human-computer interfaces as new technology may cause unforeseen biases. In fact, nuances in interaction with the same tool or system may change our perception [85]. New tools and systems designed to advance human motor ability must also be implemented in a way that humans can benefit from [39]. Thus, investigating novel paradigms such as the tracking task presented in this thesis or the factors affecting force reproduction bimanually are important in a broader context.

Two studies have been presented in this thesis relating to human interactions with forces. In the first study, force magnitude and the number of fingers were shown to have significant effects in a bimanual force recreation task regardless of skill level. Skill level was not a main effect on the task; however, this is likely due to the small sample size. Subjects in the high skill group were not able to judge their performance better than the average skill group according to responses given in a post-experiment survey.

The second study examined the effects of perturbation direction on force compensation accuracy in a novel tracking task. Statistical significance was seen between parallel and perpendicular directions, and evidence was presented that the X and Y errors do not provide equal contributions in a diagonal direction. Furthermore, an analysis of peak acceleration was presented, which strengthened the conclusions obtained from the other metrics for directional effects. Additionally, the speed-accuracy tradeoff was investigated by varying the speed of the target subjects were tracking. The negative correlation between speed and accuracy persisted in the tracking task presented here.



5.1 Main Contributions

The main contributions of this thesis are:

- 1. A relationship between force magnitude and recreation accuracy was demonstrated.
- 2. A relationship between finger configuration (the number of fingers used) and recreation accuracy was demonstrated.
- 3. A directional dependent effect of perturbation on compensation accuracy was examined.
- 4. Speed-accuracy tradeoff effects were shown to continue in a tracking task (continuous error correction) scenario.
- 5. In depth results are presented for a novel tracking task, which allows the study of error unmeasured in previous work.

5.2 Future Work

There are several possible extensions of this research. For the force compensation study, an experiment to test static force compensation of each arm for different force directions. This would involve a target at a static location, which subjects would be perturbed out of by a force and then have to return to. To clarify the effects of biomechanics, the tracking task described in this thesis should be implemented for at least one other line of action. Additionally, the effects of Fitts' law should be investigated for a tracking task by extending the experiment done by Chiu et al. [57] for moving targets for two cases where the cases have perpendicular lines of action.

For the bimanual force recreation study, I have already begun work on a follow up experiment. The major changes in the new experiment will be a redesigned device with a force sensor for each finger allowing for individual monitoring of force output. Further inquiry should be conducted into the effect the number of fingers has on the accuracy of force perception and whether a deficit in perception accuracy can be found similar to the MVC deficit found in previous work [74]. Additionally, more forces and finger combinations should be tested to investigate



the haptic capabilities of individual and groups of fingers and how Weber's law might relate to bimanual force recreation.



LIST OF REFERENCES

- [1] G. D. Schott, "Penfield's homunculus: a note on cerebral cartography.," *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, vol. 56, no. 4, pp. 329–333, 1993.
- [2] R. S. Woodworth, "Accuracy of voluntary movement.," *The Psychological Review: Monograph Supplements*, vol. 3, no. 3, p. i, 1899.
- [3] R. C. Loureiro, W. S. Harwin, K. Nagai, and M. Johnson, "Advances in upper limb stroke rehabilitation: a technology push," *Medical & biological engineering & computing*, vol. 49, no. 10, p. 1103, 2011.
- [4] S. S. Shergill, P. M. Bays, C. D. Frith, and D. M. Wolpert, "Two eyes for an eye: the neuroscience of force escalation," *Science*, vol. 301, no. 5630, pp. 187–187, 2003.
- [5] K. B. Reed, M. Peshkin, M. J. Hartmann, J. E. Colgate, and J. Patton, "Kinesthetic interaction," in *Rehabilitation Robotics*, 2005. ICORR 2005. 9th International Conference on, pp. 569–574, IEEE, 2005.
- [6] B. Tang, G. Hanna, and A. Cuschieri, "Analysis of errors enacted by surgical trainees during skills training courses," *Surgery*, vol. 138, no. 1, pp. 14–20, 2005.
- [7] J. D. Lenchus, "End of the "see one, do one, teach one" era: the next generation of invasive bedside procedural instruction," *The Journal of the American Osteopathic Association*, vol. 110, no. 6, pp. 340–346, 2010.
- [8] T. Sawyer, M. White, P. Zaveri, T. Chang, A. Ades, H. French, J. Anderson, M. Auerbach, L. Johnston, and D. Kessler, "Learn, see, practice, prove, do, maintain: an evidencebased pedagogical framework for procedural skill training in medicine," *Academic Medicine*, vol. 90, no. 8, pp. 1025–1033, 2015.



- [9] R. L. Sainburg, "Evidence for a dynamic-dominance hypothesis of handedness," *Experimental brain research*, vol. 142, no. 2, pp. 241–258, 2002.
- [10] K. P. Tee, E. Burdet, C.-M. Chew, and T. E. Milner, "A model of force and impedance in human arm movements," *Biological cybernetics*, vol. 90, no. 5, pp. 368–375, 2004.
- [11] I. Kurtzer, P. A. DiZio, and J. R. Lackner, "Adaptation to a novel multi-force environment," *Experimental brain research*, vol. 164, no. 1, pp. 120–132, 2005.
- [12] E. Goldberg, H. G. Vaughan, and L. J. Gerstman, "Nonverbal descriptive systems and hemispheric asymmetry: Shape versus texture discrimination," *Brain and language*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 249–257, 1978.
- [13] E. Goldberg and L. D. Costa, "Hemisphere differences in the acquisition and use of descriptive systems," *Brain and language*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 144–173, 1981.
- [14] C. Winstein and P. Pohl, "Effects of unilateral brain damage on the control of goal-directed hand movements," *Experimental Brain Research*, vol. 105, no. 1, pp. 163–174, 1995.
- [15] K. Y. Haaland and D. L. Harrington, "Hemispheric asymmetry of movement," *Current opinion in neurobiology*, vol. 6, no. 6, pp. 796–800, 1996.
- [16] K. Y. Haaland and D. L. Harrington, "Hemispheric control of the initial and corrective components of aiming movements," *Neuropsychologia*, vol. 27, no. 7, pp. 961–969, 1989.
- [17] R. Sainburg and D. Kalakanis, "Differences in control of limb dynamics during dominant and nondominant arm reaching," *Journal of neurophysiology*, vol. 83, no. 5, pp. 2661–2675, 2000.
- [18] L. B. Bagesteiro and R. L. Sainburg, "Handedness: dominant arm advantages in control of limb dynamics," *Journal of neurophysiology*, vol. 88, no. 5, pp. 2408–2421, 2002.
- [19] E. A. Roy and D. Elliott, "Manual asymmetries in visually directed aiming.," *Canadian Journal of Psychology/Revue canadienne de psychologie*, vol. 40, no. 2, p. 109, 1986.
- [20] E. A. Roy and D. Elliott, "Manual asymmetries in aimed movements," *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 501–516, 1989.



www.manaraa.com

- [21] T. Tomlinson and R. Sainburg, "Dynamic dominance persists during unsupported reaching," *Journal of motor behavior*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 13–25, 2012.
- [22] J. E. Schaffer and R. L. Sainburg, "Interlimb differences in coordination of unsupported reaching movements," *Neuroscience*, vol. 350, pp. 54–64, 2017.
- [23] L. B. Bagesteiro and R. L. Sainburg, "Nondominant arm advantages in load compensation during rapid elbow joint movements," *Journal of Neurophysiology*, vol. 90, no. 3, pp. 1503– 1513, 2003.
- [24] A. Przybyla, D. Good, and R. Sainburg, "Dynamic dominance varies with handedness: reduced interlimb asymmetries in left-handers," *Experimental brain research*, vol. 216, no. 3, pp. 419–431, 2012.
- [25] K. Y. Haaland, J. L. Prestopnik, R. T. Knight, and R. R. Lee, "Hemispheric asymmetries for kinematic and positional aspects of reaching," *Brain*, vol. 127, no. 5, pp. 1145–1158, 2004.
- [26] D. Elliott, M. Heath, G. Binsted, K. L. Ricker, E. A. Roy, and R. Chua, "Goal-directed aiming: Correcting a force-specification error with the right and left hands," *Journal of motor behavior*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 309–324, 1999.
- [27] F. R. Sarlegna, N. Malfait, L. Bringoux, C. Bourdin, and J.-L. Vercher, "Force-field adaptation without proprioception: can vision be used to model limb dynamics?," *Neuropsychologia*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 60–67, 2010.
- [28] G. A. Apker, K. Dyson, G. Frantz, and C. A. Buneo, "Efficiency of visual feedback integration differs between dominant and non-dominant arms during a reaching task," *Experimental brain research*, vol. 233, no. 1, pp. 317–327, 2015.
- [29] D. J. Goble, C. A. Lewis, and S. H. Brown, "Upper limb asymmetries in the utilization of proprioceptive feedback," *Experimental brain research*, vol. 168, no. 1-2, pp. 307–311, 2006.
- [30] D. J. Goble and S. H. Brown, "Upper limb asymmetries in the matching of proprioceptive versus visual targets," *Journal of Neurophysiology*, vol. 99, no. 6, pp. 3063–3074, 2008.
- [31] J. E. Lateiner and R. L. Sainburg, "Differential contributions of vision and proprioception to movement accuracy," *Experimental brain research*, vol. 151, no. 4, pp. 446–454, 2003.



- [32] F. Barbagli, K. Salisbury, C. Ho, C. Spence, and H. Z. Tan, "Haptic discrimination of force direction and the influence of visual information," *ACM Transactions on Applied Perception* (*TAP*), vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 125–135, 2006.
- [33] I. Elhajj, H. Weerasinghe, A. Dika, and R. Hansen, "Human perception of haptic force direction," in 2006 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems, pp. 989–993, IEEE, 2006.
- [34] A. Panarese and B. B. Edin, "Human ability to discriminate direction of three-dimensional force stimuli applied to the finger pad," *Journal of neurophysiology*, vol. 105, no. 2, pp. 541– 547, 2011.
- [35] H. Gomi and R. Osu, "Task-dependent viscoelasticity of human multijoint arm and its spatial characteristics for interaction with environments," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 18, no. 21, pp. 8965–8978, 1998.
- [36] J. Gordon, M.-F. Ghilardi, and C. Ghez, "Accuracy of planar reaching movements. i. independence of direction and extent variability," *Experimental Brain Research*, vol. 99, no. 1, pp. 112–130, 1993.
- [37] J. Gordon, M.-F. Ghilardi, S. E. Cooper, and C. Ghez, "Accuracy of planar reaching movements. ii. systematic extent errors resulting from inertial anisotropy.," *Experimental Brain Research*, vol. 99, no. 1, pp. 112–130, 1993.
- [38] N. Smyrnis, P. Gourtzelidis, and I. Evdokimidis, "A systematic directional error in 2-d arm movements increases with increasing delay between visual target presentation and movement execution," *Experimental brain research*, vol. 131, no. 1, pp. 111–120, 2000.
- [39] W. Mugge, I. A. Kuling, E. Brenner, and J. B. Smeets, "Haptic guidance needs to be intuitive not just informative to improve human motor accuracy," *PloS one*, vol. 11, no. 3, p. e0150912, 2016.
- [40] G. Der and I. J. Deary, "Age and sex differences in reaction time in adulthood: results from the united kingdom health and lifestyle survey.," *Psychology and aging*, vol. 21, no. 1, p. 62, 2006.
- [41] J.-F. Lin, C. G. Drury, C.-M. Chou, Y.-D. Lin, and Y.-Q. Lin, "Measuring corrective reaction time with the intermittent illumination model," in *International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction*, pp. 397–405, Springer, 2011.



- [42] R. F. Lin and C.-H. Hsu, "Measuring individual corrective reaction time using the intermittent illumination model," *Ergonomics*, vol. 57, no. 9, pp. 1337–1352, 2014.
- [43] I. W. Silverman, "Simple reaction time: It is not what it used to be," *American Journal of Psychology*, vol. 123, no. 1, pp. 39–50, 2010.
- [44] R. J. Kosinski, "A literature review on reaction time," Clemson University, vol. 10, 2008.
- [45] S. W. Keele and M. I. Posner, "Processing of visual feedback in rapid movements.," *Journal* of experimental psychology, vol. 77, no. 1, p. 155, 1968.
- [46] W. Beggs and C. Howarth, "Movement control in a repetitive motor task," *Nature*, vol. 225, no. 5234, pp. 752–753, 1970.
- [47] H. Pashler, "Dual-task interference in simple tasks: data and theory.," *Psychological bulletin*, vol. 116, no. 2, p. 220, 1994.
- [48] P. M. Fitts and J. R. Peterson, "Information capacity of discrete motor responses.," *Journal* of experimental psychology, vol. 67, no. 2, p. 103, 1964.
- [49] P. M. Fitts, "The information capacity of the human motor system in controlling the amplitude of movement.," *Journal of experimental psychology*, vol. 47, no. 6, p. 381, 1954.
- [50] C. G. Drury, "Application of fitts' law to foot-pedal design," *Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 368–373, 1975.
- [51] X. Jiang, M. S. Atkins, G. Tien, B. Zheng, and R. Bednarik, "Pupil dilations during targetpointing respect fitts' law," in *Proceedings of the Symposium on Eye Tracking Research and Applications*, pp. 175–182, ACM, 2014.
- [52] E. Felton, R. Radwin, J. Wilson, and J. Williams, "Evaluation of a modified fitts law braincomputer interface target acquisition task in able and motor disabled individuals," *Journal of neural engineering*, vol. 6, no. 5, p. 056002, 2009.
- [53] R. Plamondon and A. M. Alimi, "Speed/accuracy trade-offs in target-directed movements," *Behavioral and brain sciences*, vol. 20, no. 02, pp. 279–303, 1997.



www.manaraa.com

- [54] G. Rinkenauer, A. Osman, R. Ulrich, H. Müller-Gethmann, and S. Mattes, "On the locus of speed-accuracy trade-off in reaction time: inferences from the lateralized readiness potential.," *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, vol. 133, no. 2, p. 261, 2004.
- [55] C. Howarth, W. Beggs, and J. Bowden, "The relationship between speed and accuracy of movement aimed at a target," *Acta Psychologica*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 207–218, 1971.
- [56] N. Smyrnis, I. Evdokimidis, T. Constantinidis, and G. Kastrinakis, "Speed-accuracy trade-off in the performance of pointing movements in different directions in two-dimensional space," *Experimental Brain Research*, vol. 134, no. 1, pp. 21–31, 2000.
- [57] T.-T. Chiu, K.-Y. Young, S.-H. Hsu, C.-L. Lin, C.-T. Lin, B.-S. Yang, and Z.-R. Huang, "A study of fitts' law on goal-directed aiming task with moving targets," *Perceptual and motor skills*, vol. 113, no. 1, pp. 339–352, 2011.
- [58] L. Jones, "Kinesthetic sensing, human and machine haptics," 2000.
- [59] R. S. Dahiya and M. Valle, "Tactile sensing: Definitions and classification," in *Robotic Tactile Sensing*, pp. 13–17, Springer, 2013.
- [60] L. A. Jones and I. W. Hunter, "A perceptual analysis of stiffness," *Experimental Brain Research*, vol. 79, no. 1, pp. 150–156, 1990.
- [61] L. A. Jones, "Matching forces: constant errors and differential thresholds," *Perception*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 681–687, 1989.
- [62] H. E. Ross and E. E. Brodie, "Weber fractions for weight and mass as a function of stimulus intensity," *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 77–88, 1987.
- [63] D. M. Wolpert, Z. Ghahramani, and M. I. Jordan, "An internal model for sensorimotor integration," *Science*, vol. 269, no. 5232, p. 1880, 1995.
- [64] L. D. Walsh, J. L. Taylor, and S. C. Gandevia, "Overestimation of force during matching of externally generated forces," *The Journal of physiology*, vol. 589, no. 3, pp. 547–557, 2011.



- [65] J. Diedrichsen, T. Verstynen, A. Hon, Y. Zhang, and R. B. Ivry, "Illusions of force perception: the role of sensori-motor predictions, visual information, and motor errors," *Journal of neurophysiology*, vol. 97, no. 5, pp. 3305–3313, 2007.
- [66] N. L. Valles and K. B. Reed, "To know your own strength: overriding natural force attenuation," *Haptics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 264–269, 2014.
- [67] J. R. Flanagan, J. P. Bittner, and R. S. Johansson, "Experience can change distinct size-weight priors engaged in lifting objects and judging their weights," *Current Biology*, vol. 18, no. 22, pp. 1742–1747, 2008.
- [68] P. Joice, G. Hanna, and A. Cuschieri, "Errors enacted during endoscopic surgery-a human reliability analysis," *Applied ergonomics*, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 409–414, 1998.
- [69] M. Zhou, J. Perreault, S. Schwaitzberg, and C. Cao, "Effects of experience on force perception threshold in minimally invasive surgery," *Surgical endoscopy*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 510–515, 2008.
- [70] M. Zhou, J. Perreault, S. D. Schwaitzberg, and C. G. Cao, "Force perception threshold varies with experience in minimally invasive surgery," in *Systems, Man and Cybernetics, 2007. ISIC. IEEE International Conference on*, pp. 2228–2232, IEEE, 2007.
- [71] M. R. Prasad, M. Manivannan, and S. Chandramohan, "Effects of laparoscopic instrument and finger on force perception: a first step towards laparoscopic force-skills training," *Surgical endoscopy*, vol. 29, no. 7, pp. 1927–1943, 2015.
- [72] M. R. Prasad, M. Manivannan, G. Manoharan, and S. Chandramohan, "Objective assessment of laparoscopic force and psychomotor skills in a novel virtual reality-based haptic simulator," *Journal of surgical education*, vol. 73, no. 5, pp. 858–869, 2016.
- [73] B. B. Edin, G. Westling, and R. S. Johansson, "Independent control of human finger-tip forces at individual digits during precision lifting.," *The Journal of physiology*, vol. 450, p. 547, 1992.
- [74] Z.-M. Li, M. Latash, and V. Zatsiorsky, "Force sharing among fingers as a model of the redundancy problem," *Experimental brain research*, vol. 119, no. 3, pp. 276–286, 1998.



- [75] S. Ambike, V. M. Zatsiorsky, and M. L. Latash, "Processes underlying unintentional fingerforce changes in the absence of visual feedback," *Experimental brain research*, vol. 233, no. 3, pp. 711–721, 2015.
- [76] B. Rigsby and K. B. Reed, "Assessing the effect of experience on bimanual force recreation," IEEE, 08 2016.
- [77] B. Rigsby and K. B. Reed, "Effect of weight and number of fingers on bimanual force recreation," IEEE, 08 2016.
- [78] B. Onneweer, W. Mugge, and A. C. Schouten, "Force reproduction error depends on force level, whereas the position reproduction error does not," *IEEE transactions on haptics*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 54–61, 2016.
- [79] J. Han, G. Waddington, R. Adams, and J. Anson, "Bimanual proprioceptive performance differs for right-and left-handed individuals," *Neuroscience letters*, vol. 542, pp. 37–41, 2013.
- [80] R. L. McGrath and S. S. Kantak, "Reduced asymmetry in motor skill learning in left-handed compared to right-handed individuals," *Human movement science*, vol. 45, pp. 130–141, 2016.
- [81] D. J. Goble, B. C. Noble, and S. H. Brown, "Proprioceptive target matching asymmetries in left-handed individuals," *Experimental brain research*, vol. 197, no. 4, pp. 403–408, 2009.
- [82] Y. Xu, A. Terekhov, M. Latash, and V. Zatsiorsky, "Forces and moments generated by the human arm: variability and control," *Experimental brain research*, vol. 223, no. 2, pp. 159– 175, 2012.
- [83] D. Menychtas, T. Sullins, B. Rigsby, S. Carey, and K. B. Reed, "Assessing the role of preknowledge in force compensation during a tracking task," in *Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), 2016 IEEE 38th Annual International Conference of the*, pp. 4581– 4584, IEEE, 2016.
- [84] R. Gentili, V. Cahouet, and C. Papaxanthis, "Motor planning of arm movements is directiondependent in the gravity field," *Neuroscience*, vol. 145, no. 1, pp. 20–32, 2007.
- [85] K. Kilteni and H. H. Ehrsson, "Sensorimotor predictions and tool use: Hand-held tools attenuate self-touch," *Cognition*, vol. 165, pp. 1–9, 2017.



APPENDIX A: ADDITIONAL FIGURES

A.1 Position Paths



Figure A.1: The average Y vs. X position across all subjects for the duration of the trial.





Figure A.2: Raw 2D paths of the four cardinal direction force perturbations are given across all the subjects.





Figure A.3: Raw 2D paths of the four diagonal direction force perturbations are given across all the subjects.





Figure A.4: The 2D path for the duration of the trial for all the subjects' baseline data (no force perturbation).



APPENDIX B: COPYRIGHT PERMISSIONS

The permission below is for the material used in Chapter 3.





Publisher: Copyright © 1969, IEEE

	Home Create Help
IEEE	LOGIN If you're a copyright.com user, you can login to RightsLink using your copyright.com credentials. Already a RightsLink user or want to Jearn more?

Thesis / Dissertation Reuse

The IEEE does not require individuals working on a thesis to obtain a formal reuse license, however, you may print out this statement to be used as a permission grant:

Requirements to be followed when using any portion (e.g., figure, graph, table, or textual material) of an IEEE copyrighted paper in a thesis:

 In the case of textual material (e.g., using short quotes or referring to the work within these papers) users must give full credit to the original source (author, paper, publication) followed by the IEEE copyright line 2011 IEEE.
 In the case of illustrations or tabular material, we require that the copyright line (Year of original publication) IEEE appear prominently with each reprinted figure and/or table.

3) If a substantial portion of the original paper is to be used, and if you are not the senior author, also obtain the senior author senior author also obtain the senior author.

Requirements to be followed when using an entire IEEE copyrighted paper in a thesis:

1) The following IEEE copyright/ credit notice should be placed prominently in the references: (year of original publication] IEEE. Reprinted, with permission, from [author names, paper title, IEEE publication title, and month/year of publication]

2) Only the accepted version of an IEEE copyrighted paper can be used when posting the paper or your thesis online.

3) In placing the thesis on the author's university website, please display the following message in a prominent place on the website: In reference to IEEE copyrighted material which is used with permission in this thesis, the IEEE does not endorse any of [university/educational entity's name goes here]'s products or services. Internal or personal use of this material is permitted. If interested in reprinting/republishing IEEE copyrighted material for advertising or promotional purposes or for creating new collective works for resale or redistribution, please go to http://www.ieee.org/publications_standards/publications/rights/rights_link.html to learn how to obtain a License for material to learn how to obtain a License for mathematical sections.

If applicable, University Microfilms and/or ProQuest Library, or the Archives of Canada may supply single copies of the dissertation.



Copyright © 2017 Copyright Clearance Center; Inc. All Rights Reserved. Privacy statement, Terms and Conditions. Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at customercare@copyright.com

